CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MONTY C. FLETCHER AND SANDRA L. FLETCHER

APPELLANTS

VS.

CASE NO. 2007-CA-00949

JIMMIE L. LYLES, LEONEZE C. LYLES AND KELLY DABBS REALTY, INC.

APPELLEES

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

Monty C. Fletcher, Plaintiff below, Appellant here.

Sandra L. Fletcher, Plaintiff below, Appellant here.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

ISSUE NUMBER 1:

Does a cause of action regarding a real estate agency's failure to disclose a previous home inspection and a structural engineer's report on the same property listed with the same real estate agency approximately fourteen months earlier accrue on the date of the contract, the date of transfer of title, or the date the inspection reports are discovered?

ISSUE NUMBER 2:

Did the trial court commit reversible error when it granted Dabbs' Motion for Summary Judgment?

ISSUE NUMBER 3:

Does a cause of action regarding a seller's failure to disclose a previous home inspection report on the property, and multiple misrepresentations as to the condition of the property made by the seller in a Seller's Disclosure Statement accrue on the date of the contract, the date of transfer of title, or the date the misrepresentation and inspection reports are discovered?

ISSUE NUMBER 4:

Did the trial court commit reversible error when it granted Lyles' Motion for Summary Judgment?

ISSUE NUMBER 5:

Did the trial court commit reversible error when it denied the Fletchers' Motion To Amend? ISSUE NUMBER 6:

Does the word "consummate" as it appears in the *Mississippi Real Estate Commission* (*hereinafter "MREC"*) Rules and Regulations IV. B. 7. require that there be a closing and a transfer of title before a real estate broker is required to keep complete records relating to that real estate transaction for three years? In other words, does this Rule require real estate brokers to keep complete records <u>only</u> when a transaction is closed and a transfer of title occurs? (Note: In the July, 1998 and the November, 1999 "License Law" pamphlet published by the MREC this Rule was numbered IV. B. 6. A new number 3 was thereafter added, thus causing the renumbering of all paragraphs that followed.)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves real property known as 136 Bridge Water Drive, Madison, Mississippi, (hereinafter referred to as the "house", "property" or "subject property") which was sold by Jimmie L. Lyles and Leoneze C. Lyles, (hereinafter "Lyles") through Kelly Dabbs Realty, Inc. (hereinafter "Dabbs") to Monty C. Fletcher and Sandra L. Fletcher (hereinafter "Fletchers").

The property was sold by Lyles to the Fletchers on October 30, 2000. This suit was filed on October 29, 2003 by Monty and Sandra Fletcher. Dabbs and Lyles filed their Answers and Counterclaims on December 4 and December 5, 2003, respectively. The Fletchers filed their Reply to each Counterclaim on December 29, 2003.

The deposition of Kenny Simmons (hereinafter "Simmons"), the property owner prior to Lyles, was taken on March 22, 2004, along with the deposition of a home inspector, Don Walker (hereinafter "Walker"). On June 23, 2004, the defendants deposed Sandra Fletcher. In August, 2004, the inspection report of Walker dated June 8, 1999 and addressed to Mr. Alfredo and Mary Rodriguez was retrieved from Walker's old computer hard drive and produced.

In November, 2004, Leoneze C. Lyles passed away. On February 22, 2005, Jesse M. Harrington, the Lyles' first attorney, passed away and on May 19, 2005, Eddie Abdeen was substituted as Lyles' attorney. James E. Lambert, the first attorney for Kelly Dabbs Realty, Inc. withdrew from the case for medical reasons.

In December, 2005, the depositions of Monty Fletcher, Kelly Dabbs Realty, Inc., Jimmie Lyles, and Mary Rodriguez were conducted. In January, 2006, the report of Advanced Engineering Resources, Inc. dated July 14, 1999 and addressed to Dr. And Mrs. Alfredo Rodriguez was received in response to a subpoena. On January 26, 2006, based on the newly discovered evidence, the Fletchers filed their Motion To Amend. On July 7, 2006, Dabbs filed its Response to the Motion

to Amend and its own Motion for Summary Judgment. On July 14, 2006, the Fletchers filed their Response to Dabbs' Motion for Summary Judgment. Also on July 14, 2006, Lyles filed his joinder in Dabbs' Response and Motion for Summary Judgment.

On July 17, 2006, a hearing was held on the Fletchers' Motion to Amend and Defendants' Motions for Summary Judgment. The trial court denied all motions. On October 5, 2006, Dabbs filed a Motion to Reconsider its Motion For Summary Judgment. On March 12, 2007 a hearing was conducted and the trial court granted the defendants' Motions for Summary Judgment. It is from the denial of the Fletchers' Motion To Amend, (Rec., pages 0316-0317) and the granting of the defendants' Motions For Summary Judgment (Rec., pages 0363-0364) that this appeal is taken.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 1999, the subject property was owned by Kenny Simmons (hereinafter "Simmons"). He listed the property for sale through Dabbs for \$225,000.00. (Rec., page 0315). Prospective purchasers Alfredo and Mary Rodriguez (hereinafter "Rodriguez") entered into a contract to purchase the property conditioned upon a favorable home inspection. The home inspector stated that "Some conditions were observed that would suggest the entire home has leaned or settled to the rear." (Rec., page 0191). Because of the home inspector's comments, the Rodriguez engaged Advanced Engineering Resources, Inc. (hereinafter "Advanced Engineering") to inspect the property. Based on the home inspection report and the engineer's report, Rodriguez decided not to purchase the property, cancelled their contract, and secured the return of their earnest money. (Rec., page 0304-0309). A day or two later, (Rec., page 0314, lines 11-12) Lyles looked at the property and was given a copy of the home inspection report by Simmons. (Rec., page 0313, lines 17-19). Lyles purchased the property for \$200,000.00.

i.

About a year later, Lyles placed the property on the market for sale through Dabbs. Lyles,

through Dabbs, provided the Fletchers with a Seller's Disclosure Statement (hereinafter "Disclosure Statement"). In that Disclosure Statement, Lyles represented that no foundation repairs were needed (Part B), no evidence of termite infestation (Part C), the property had not flooded (Part E), and that Lyles was not aware of any defects or needed repairs about which the purchaser should be informed (second page part A., fourth line). (Rec., pages 0016-0017).

Dabbs was a dual agent in the transaction and thus represented both Lyles and the Fletchers. (Rec., page 0018).

The Fletchers and Lyles entered into a Real Estate Contract on September 16, 2000. (Rec., page 0014). This was fourteen (14) months after Dabbs had a previous contract on the subject property which was terminated by Rodriguez because of negative reports from a home inspector and a structural engineer.

The contract between Lyles and the Fletchers contained a specific representation in paragraph 13, that, "Seller furthermore specifically covenants and represents that he has no actual knowledge of any defects in the condition of the property" Paragraph 12 of that contract provides that, "All express representations, warranties and covenants contained herein shall survive closing"(Rec., page 0015).

The Fletchers purchased the subject property from Lyles on October 30, 2000 for \$245,000.00. (Rec., pages 0012-0013). Fletcher filed the present action on October 29, 2003. (Rec., page 0007).

í.

Neither Dabbs nor Lyles gave the Fletchers a copy of either the home inspection report or the engineer's report. Neither Dabbs nor Lyles disclosed to the Fletchers the fact that one or more inspections had been previously performed on the property and reports had been prepared. Dabbs had knowledge of the two reports and what they contained through its agent(s). One of Dabbs'

agents was Joan Thomas. (Rec., page 0315). Lyles had been given a copy of the home inspection report by Simmons and therefore knew that the house was not level. (Rec., page 0313, lines 17-19).

After the Fletchers learned that Don Walker had inspected the property, a *subpoena duces tecum* was issued for Walker's report. Walker responded that this report was on an old computer hard drive that he could not access. The Fletchers hired a computer expert to retrieve the report from Walker's old hard drive. Once the report was retrieved, it disclosed the identity of Dr. and Mrs. Rodriguez. (Rec., page 0187). Mary Rodriguez was deposed in December, 2005. (Rec., pages 304-309). She testified that the structural engineer she and her husband hired was Advanced Engineering Resources, Inc. Through subpoena, a copy of the engineer's report was obtained on January 3, 2006. (Rec., pages 0299-0302). The report showed that there was over four inches difference between the highest and lowest points in the house. On January 26, 2006, based on the newly discovered evidence, the Fletchers filed their Motion To Amend. (Rec., pages 0136-0151).

Dabbs did not disclose to the Fletchers the existence of Walker's report or Advanced Engineering's report. Dabbs did not disclose the contents of those reports, which were negative to the subject property. Dabbs did not disclose the fact that a previous buyer under contract cancelled the contract because of the condition of the subject property.

VII. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

ISSUE NUMBER 1:

Does a cause of action regarding a real estate agency's failure to disclose a previous home inspection and a structural engineer's report on the same property listed with the same real estate agency approximately fourteen months earlier accrue on the date of the contract, the date of transfer of title, or the date the inspection reports are discovered?

There is no Mississippi case on point dealing with the statute of limitations applied to a real estate contract where the transaction was closed. A good analogy is the purchase of an insurance policy. If one looks at the cases involving insurance policies, real estate contract cases can, and should, be decided in an identical manner. Once the policy (property) is purchased, a cause of action accrues, unless (in property cases) there is a latent defect that was kept from the purchasers.

In Mississippi, numerous insurance contract cases have held that the statute of limitations accrues upon the purchase of the insurance policy, or in some cases, the date of the actual injury. See *Robinson v. S. Farm Bureau Cas. Co.*, 2003-CA-02797-COA (Miss. App. 2005), *Citifinancial Mortg. Co. Inc. v. Washington*, 2005-IA-00311-SCT (Miss. 2007).

ISSUE NUMBER 2:

Did the trial court commit reversible error when it granted Dabbs' Motion for Summary Judgment?

Many facts are in dispute between the parties. There have been depositions taken that support and prove most of the Fletchers' claims. There has been little beyond mere allegations to support Dabbs' defenses.

Because there are many genuine factual issues, Dabbs' Motion For Summary Judgment should not have been granted. The trial court did not rule correctly on this issue.

ISSUE NUMBER 3:

i.

Does a cause of action regarding a seller's failure to disclose a previous home inspection report on the property, and multiple misrepresentations as to the condition of the property made by the seller in a Seller's Disclosure Statement accrue on the date of the contract, the date of transfer of title, or the date the misrepresentation and inspection reports are discovered?

Previously, Lyles had a copy of the home inspection report and used it to negotiate a

\$25,000.00 discount on this waterfront home in Lake Caroline. When Lyles sold the property to the Fletchers, Lyles not only failed to produce the inspection report, but also made numerous other misrepresentations, including the representation that the adjoining lots would always be vacant. (Rec., page 0019, third paragraph). Lyles also failed to disclose the fact that the garage floods. (Rec., page 0019, second paragraph). These facts were not known to the Fletchers at the time they signed the contract.

Mississippi courts have long recognized that a cause of action cannot logically accrue until the cause of action is known or damages have been suffered.

ISSUE NUMBER 4:

Did the trial court commit reversible error when it granted Lyles' Motion for Summary Judgment?

Mississippi Code Ann. § 89-1-501, et seq. requires complete disclosure by Lyles of the true condition of the property being transferred. Lyles misrepresented the condition of the home. Lyles falsely stated in their Disclosure Statement that there were no foundation problems with the subject property, that there was no evidence of termite infestation, that the subject property had never flooded, there was no standing water and that they were not aware of any defects or needed repairs about which the purchaser should be informed.

The previous owner testified that Lyles had a copy of the home inspection report.

ISSUE NUMBER 5:

Did the trial court commit reversible error when it denied the Fletchers' Motion To Amend?

The Fletchers' Motion to Amend was filed within a few weeks after the engineer's report was discovered. The motion involved the same defendants in the same series of events as the original complaint. Neither Dabbs, nor Lyles showed the trial court any undue prejudice that they would

suffer if the motion had been granted. The defendants had full knowledge of the facts that give rise to the additional claims. There was no trial date set at the time the motion was filed. Therefore, the Motion to Amend should have been granted by the trial court.

Miss. R. Civ. P. 15(a) states,

A party may amend a pleading as a matter of course at any time before a responsive pleading is served, or, if a pleading is one to which no responsive pleading is permitted and the action has not been placed upon the trial calendar, the party may so amend it at any time within thirty days after it is served. On sustaining a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), or for judgment on the pleadings, pursuant to Rule 12(c), leave to amend shall be granted when justice so requires upon conditions and within time as determined by the court, provided matters outside the pleadings are not presented at the hearing on the motion. Otherwise a party may amend a pleading only by leave of court or upon written consent of the adverse party; leave shall be freely given when justice so requires to an amended pleading within the time remaining for response to the original pleading or within ten days after service of the amended pleading, whichever period may be longer, unless the court otherwise orders.

ISSUE NUMBER 6:

Does the word "consummate" as it appears in the *MREC Rules and Regulations IV. B.* 7. require that there be a closing and a transfer of title before a real estate broker is required to keep complete records relating to that real estate transaction for three years? In other words, does this Rule require real estate brokers to keep complete records <u>only</u> when a transaction is closed and a transfer of title occurs? (Note: In the July, 1998 and the November, 1999 "License Law" pamphlet published by the MREC this Rule was number IV. B. 6. A new number 3 was thereafter added, thus causing the renumbering of all paragraphs that followed.)

Mississippi Real Estate Commission Rules & Regulations IV. B. 6. (http://www.mrec.ms.gov/docs/mrec_lic_law_form_rec.pdf; November 1999; July 1, 1998), states:

A real estate broker must keep on file for three years following its consummation, complete records relating to any real estate transaction. This includes, but is not

limited to: listings, options, leases, offers to purchase, contracts of sale, escrow records, and copies of closing statements.

The ruling of the trial court is against public policy and clearly a misinterpretation of the MREC Rule.

VIII. ARGUMENT

ISSUE NUMBER 1:

Does a cause of action regarding a real estate agency's failure to disclose a previous home inspection and a structural engineer's report on the same property listed with the same real estate agency approximately fourteen months earlier accrue on the date of the contract, the date of transfer of title, or the date the inspection reports are discovered?

Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-49 (1972, as amended) states:

(1) All actions for which no other period of limitation is prescribed shall be commenced within three (3) years next after the cause of such action accrued, and not after.

(2) In actions for which no other period of limitation is prescribed and which involve latent injury or disease, the cause of action does not accrue until the plaintiff has discovered, or by reasonable diligence should have discovered, the injury.

(3) The provisions of subsection (2) of this section shall apply to all pending and subsequently filed actions.

"In a contractual claim, a cause of action accrues on the date of actual injury, the date the

facts occurred which enable the Plaintiffs to bring a cause of action." Citifinancial Mortg. Co. Inc.

v. Washington, 2005-IA-00311-SCT (¶7) (Miss. 2007); Oaks v. Sellers, 2006-IA-00005-SCT (¶13)

(Miss. 2007).

The statute of limitations begins to run as soon as there is a cause of action, and the cause of

action accrues when it comes into existence as an enforceable claim. Joiner Ins. Agency, Inc. v.

Principal Cas. Ins. Co., 684 So. 2d 1242, 1244 (Miss. 1996) (quoting City of Mound Bayou v.

Johnson, 562 So. 2d 1212 (Miss. 1990)).

"Because a component of the contract remains to be fulfilled, the statute of limitations has not begun to run." In contracts, it is the general rule "that the statute of limitations begins to run as soon as there is a cause of action." *Bailey v. Estate of Kemp*, No. 2005-CA-01468-SCT, (¶33) (Miss. 2007) (citing *Old Ladies Home Ass'n v. Hall*, 52 So. 2d 650, 655 (Miss. 1951) (limitations period does not begin to run upon nonperformance of contractual duty until cause of action accrues)).

ISSUE NUMBER 2:

Did the trial court commit reversible error when it granted Dabbs' Motion for Summary Judgment?

The standard of review for a trial court's grant of summary judgement is a de novo standard and looks to all evidentiary matters before it, including "admissions in pleadings, answers to interrogatories, depositions, affidavits, etc." *City of Jackson v. Sutton*, 1999-IA-02110-SCT (¶7) (Miss. 2001) (quoting *Heigle v. Heigle*, 1999-CA-00007-SCT (¶8) (Miss. 2000); *McCullough v. Cook*, 679 So. 2d 627, 630 (Miss. 1996)).

Evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. "If, in this view, there is no genuine issue of material fact and, the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law, summary judgment should forthwith be entered in his favor. Otherwise, the motion should be denied. Issues of fact sufficient to require denial of a motion for summary judgment obviously are present where one party swears to one version of the matter in issue and another says the opposite. In addition, the burden of demonstrating that no genuine issue of fact exists is on the moving party. That is, the non-movant should be given the benefit of the doubt." *Id*.

Miss. R. Civ. P. 56 requires that the party opposing the motion for summary judgment be diligent in presenting his opposition to the trial court. Bourn v. Tomlinson Interest, Inc., 456 So. 2d

747, 749 (Miss. 1984) (citing Brown v. Credit Ctr., Inc., 444 So. 2d 358, 364 (Miss. 1983)).

Where doubt exists as to whether there is a genuine issue of material fact, the trial judge should err on the side of denying the motion and permitting a full trial on the merits. Where the record is incomplete regarding any material fact, the summary judgment motion should generally be denied. *Prescott v. Leaf River Forest Prod., Inc.*, 96-CA-00942-SCT, 96-CA-00977-SCT, 96-CA-00978-SCT (¶15) (Miss. 1999); *Am. Legion Ladnier Post [Number] 42, Inc. v. City of Ocean Springs*, 562 So. 2d 103, 106 (Miss. 1990).

"As the Roebucks failed to present any evidence to defeat that evidence submitted by McDade with her motion for summary judgment and given the language from Form 427-10 cited above, the trial judge had no choice but to grant McDade's motion and to enter summary judgment against the Roebucks." *Roebuck v. McDade*, 98-CP-00561-COA (¶14) (Miss. App. 1999).

Under Miss. R. Civ. P. 56, Dabbs had the burden to prove that there were no genuine issues of material fact. Simmons v. Thompson Mach., 631 So. 2d 798, 801 (Miss. 1994); Walker v. Skiwski, 529 So. 2d 184, 186 (Miss. 1988).

Miss. R. Civ. P. 56(c) states:

The judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. A summary judgment, interlocutory in character, may be rendered on the issue of liability alone, although there is a genuine issue as to the amount of damages.

Miss. R. Civ. P. 56(e) states in part: Supporting and opposing affidavits shall be made on personal knowledge, shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matter stated therein.

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