#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

## MONTY C. FLETCHER and SANDRA L. FLETCHER

#### **APPELLANTS**

V.

CAUSE NO. 2007-CA-00949

# JIMMIE L. LYLES, LEONEZE C. LYLES and KELLY DABBS REALTY, INC.

**APPELLEES** 

## APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MADISON COUNTY Civil Action No. 2003-00278

#### BRIEF OF APPELLEE KELLY DABBS REALTY, INC.

#### ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE KELLY DABBS REALTY, INC.

G. TODD BURWELL, ESQ. MSB No. JULIE P. RATLIFF, ESQ. MSB No. 618 Crescent Blvd., Ste. 200 Ridgeland, Mississippi 39157 (601) 427-4470

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

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

1

2

Dabbs' Rebuttal was filed on July 17, 2006. It was, however, omitted from the record submitted by the circuit court. Dabbs' counsel notified the circuit court of this. A true and correct copy of Dabbs' Rebuttal is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit "A."

Plaintiffs' Petition for Interlocutory Appeal ("Petition"), which was attached to Dabbs' Rule 10(b)(5) Certificate of Examination of the Record filed with the circuit court on August 8, 2007, but not forwarded to this Court. A true and correct copy of Plaintiffs' Petition is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit "B."

the Fletcher Contract did not control, the date Plaintiffs received their own, independent home inspection report on the Subject Property (September 29, 2000), since Plaintiffs should have known of any defects by the date of the report. (Rec., Suppl. Vol. 1, Pages 16-17, Lines 11-13, 29 and 1-9). The trial court held Plaintiffs should have filed their claim by no later than three (3) years from the time they received the AmeriSpec report, and as Plaintiffs' Complaint was not, their claims were therefore barred by the statute of limitations. Plaintiffs filed their Notice of Appeal with this Court on or about May 14, 2007, appealing the final Judgment entered on April 16, 2007. (Rec., Page 365).

#### **III. ARGUMENT**

#### A. Standard of Review and Legal Standard

A de novo standard of review is applied to a trial court's grant of summary judgment. Moss v. Batesville Casket Co., 925 So.2d 393, 398 (Miss. 2006). See also Stuckey v. Provident Bank, 912 So.2d 859, 864 (Miss. 2005); Jenkins v. Ohio Cas. Ins. Co., 794 So.2d 228, 232 (Miss. 2001); Russell v. Orr, 700 So.2d 619, 622 (Miss. 1997); Richmond v. Benchmark Constr. Corp., 692 So.2d 60, 61 (Miss. 1997); Northern Elec. Co. v. Phillips, 660 So.2d 1278, 1281 (Miss. 1995). "This Court employs a factual review tantamount to that of the trial court when considering evidentiary matters in the record." Id. (quoting Williams v. Bennett, 921 So.2d 1269, 1272 (Miss. 2006)).

Summary judgment is appropriate "if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." *MISS. R. CIV. P. 56(c).* The party seeking summary judgment carries the burden of demonstrating there is an absence of evidence to support the non-moving party's case. *Celotex Corp. v. Catrett,* 477 U.S. 317, 325, 91 L. Ed. 2d 265, 106 S. Ct. 2548 (1986). *See McCullough v. Cook*, 679 So.2d 627, 630 (Miss. 1996). The non-moving party must be diligent in opposing the motion for summary judgment and

"...may not rest upon allegations or denials in the pleadings." Richmond v. Benchmark Constr. Corp., 692 So.2d 60, 61 (Miss. 1997). See Johnson & Sons Constr., Inc. v. The State of Mississippi, et al, 877 So.2d 360, 365 (Miss. 2004) (citing Smith v. H.C. Bailey Companies, 477 So.2d 224, 233 (Miss. 1985)); Bourn v. Tomlinson Interest, Inc., 456 So.2d 747, 749 (Miss. 1984). The non-moving party must then go beyond the pleadings and designate "specific facts showing . . . a genuine issue for trial." Celotex, 477 U.S. at 324. See also Galloway v. Travelers Ins. Co., 515 So.2d 678, 683 (Miss. 1987); Brown v. Credit Center, 444 So.2d 358, 364 (Miss. 1984).

For "...summary judgment to be inappropriate, there must be genuine issues of *material* fact; the existence of a hundred contested issues of fact will not thwart summary judgment where none of them is material." *Johnson*, 877 So.2d at 365 (emphasis in original) (citing *Shaw v. Burchfield*, 481 So.2d 247, 252 (Miss. 1985)). Mere conclusory allegations which do not reveal detailed and precise facts will not prevent the award of summary judgment. *Ellis v. Powe*, 645 So.2d 947, 952 (Miss. 1994) (quoting *Brown*, 444 So.2d 362).

#### B. Lower Court's April 16, 2007, Judgment Was Correct

-

Plaintiffs argue the trial court erred in *two* rulings. First, Plaintiffs allege the trial court erred in granting both Dabbs' and Lyles' Motions for Summary Judgment. In their brief, Plaintiffs argue their cause of action could not have possibly accrued before October 30, 2000, because the close of the sale for the Subject Property did not occur until that day, and genuine issues of material fact exist which prevent summary judgment. However, Plaintiffs overlook two simple, yet important, facts: (a) as of September 16, 2000, both Plaintiffs and the Lyles were contractually bound to, and had rights upon which they could sue, each other; and (b) Plaintiffs procured and received their own, independent home inspection of the Subject Property on or about September 29, 2000, and, therefore, should have known of the alleged defects as of that date.

Dabbs based its summary judgment motion on the following: (1) Plaintiffs provided no proof

Dabbs had possession of the Walker Report or Advanced Engineering Report, and Dabbs cannot be liable for information of which it had no knowledge; (2) all of Plaintiffs' claims are barred by the statute of limitations; (3) Plaintiffs are unable to establish essential elements regarding a claim of negligent or fraudulent misrepresentation, and, as such, the closing date is not the applicable date to begin the running of the statute of limitations; and/or (4) Dabbs did not have a duty to require, obtain, or maintain either the Walker Report or Advanced Engineering Report, and it complied with Miss. Code Ann. § 73-35-21(1)(a) and the Real Estate License Law. The trial court's Judgment, and ruling in connection therewith, are well supported by both case law and statute and was correct in granting summary judgment as to Dabbs.

Second, Plaintiffs argue the trial court's denial of Plaintiffs' Motion to Amend Complaint is being appealed. This argument is referenced in Plaintiffs' introductory paragraph and then listed as Issue 5 in the brief and argument. Plaintiffs overlook the fact that their appeal was "from the final Judgment entered in this case on April 16, 2007." (Rec., Pages 365-366). The trial court's April 16, 2007, Judgment pertained only to summary judgment, and not to Plaintiffs' Motion to Amend Complaint. As such, Plaintiffs' Motion to Amend Complaint and/or the trial court's denial of same are neither timely nor properly before this Court.

#### 1. Summary of Orders Appealed and Issues Presented by Plaintiffs.

Plaintiffs' Brief separates their appeal into six (6) issues: (1) when did Plaintiffs' cause of action against Dabbs accrue; (2) did the trial court err by granting summary judgment to Dabbs; (3) when did Plaintiffs' cause of action against Lyles accrue; (4) did the trial court err by granting summary judgment to Lyles; (5) did the trial court err by denying Plaintiffs' Motion to Amend their original Complaint; and (6) what does the word "consummate" as it appears in the Mississippi Real Estate Commission's ("MREC") Rules and Regulations mean and require. Plaintiffs' argument, however, can be summarized into three (3) issues: (1) is the trial court's denial of Plaintiffs' Motion

:

to Amend properly before this Court; (2) are Plaintiffs' claims barred by the statute of limitations; and (3) did Dabbs comply with MREC rules and regulations. Accordingly, Dabbs will address these three (3) comprehensive issues.

# 2. Plaintiffs' Appeal of the Trial Court's Denial of their Motion to Amend is Not Properly Before this Court.

Plaintiffs filed their Motion to Amend the Complaint on or about January 24, 2006. (Rec., Pages 7-19). The hearing on both Plaintiffs' Motion to Amend and Dabbs' Motion for Summary Judgment was held on July 17, 2006. (Rec., Volume 4 of 4). On September 25, 2006, the trial court entered an order denying Dabbs' Motion for Summary Judgment. (Rec., Page 322). By separate order on September 25, 2006, the trial court denied Plaintiffs' Motion to Amend Complaint. (Rec., Pages 316-317). Dabbs' Motion to Reconsider Order Denying Motion for Summary Judgment was only as to its Motion for Summary Judgment. (Rec., Pages 323-348). On or about October 16, 2006, Plaintiffs filed a Petition for Interlocutory Appeal specifically seeking permission to appeal the trial court's September 19, 2006, Order Denying Motion to Amend Complaint. (See Exhibit "A"). This Court denied Plaintiffs' Petition for Interlocutory Appeal on November 21, 2006. (Rec., Page 358). Plaintiffs' next pleading was their Response to Dabbs' Motion to Reconsider Order Denying Motion for Summary Judgement, filed on or about March 8, 2007. (Rec., Pages 349-351). Following a hearing on Dabbs' Motion to Reconsider Order Denying Motion for Summary Judgment, the trial court entered a Judgment as to same. (Rec., Pages 363-364). The trial court's April 16, 2007, Judgment was not issued with regard to, and did not reference, Plaintiffs' Motion to Amend or the Order Denying Motion to Amend. Plaintiffs filed their Notice of Appeal with this Court on or about May 14, 2007, appealing the final Judgment entered on April 16, 2007.

Rule 3 and Rule 4 of the Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure combine to establish the procedures and deadlines for perfecting an appeal. M.R.A.P. 3(c) states, in relevant part, as follows:

: .

1

(c) Content of the Notice of Appeal. The notice of appeal shall specify the party or parties taking the appeal and the party or parties against whom the appeal is taken, and shall designate as a whole or in part the judgment or order appealed from.

And, "[e]xcept as provided in Rules 4(d) and 4(e)....the notice of appeal...shall be filed within 30 days after the date of entry of the judgment or order appealed from." M.R.A.P. 4(a).

There is "...one (and only one) method of appeal" to this Court. *Moran v. Necaise*, 437 So.2d 1222, 1225 (Miss. 1983). This Court's appeal procedure is simple, and is "...in the form of a hardedged, mandatory rule" that is to be enforced as written. *Tandy Electronics v. Fletcher*, 554 So.2d 308, 310 (Miss. 1989). Plaintiffs' Notice of Appeal stated they appealed "...from the final Judgment entered in this case on April 16, 2007." Accordingly, Plaintiffs' Motion to Amend Complaint and/or the trial court's denial of same were not timely appealed, and are not properly before this Court.

Even if, *arguendo*, appeal of the trial court's denial of Plaintiffs' Motion to Amend is properly before this Court, the trial court's ruling should be affirmed. This Court reviews a trial court's denial of a motion to amend under an abuse of discretion standard. *Webb v. Braswell*, 930 So.2d 387, 393 (Miss. 2006) (citing *Church v. Massey*, 697 So.2d 407, 413 (Miss. 1997)). And, although leave to amend should be "freely given when justice so requires," such leave should not be granted when the proposed amendment is futile. *Id*.

Plaintiffs' Brief alleges they "did not know of the report from Advanced Engineering until January 3, 2006," and "this disclosure was possible only after the deposition of Mary Rodriguez." Plaintiffs' Brief, Page 24. Plaintiffs' Brief further alleges "Walker's identity was not known with certainty until after Simmons was deposed." *Id.* These assertions are simply not true.

Plaintiffs' Complaint, filed on October 29, 2003, alleged: a prospective buyer had an engineer inspect the property; said buyer did not buy the property based upon the engineer's report; that same, or another, prospective buyer had an inspection performed by Don Walker of Home Inspection

9

Service; and said buyer did not purchase the property based upon Walker's report. (Rec., Pages 008-009). Plaintiffs' Complaint also alleged Dabbs failed to disclose the existence of the engineer's and the home inspector's reports from its previous listing. (Rec., Page 009).

As such, Plaintiffs clearly had full knowledge of an engineer's report, Walker himself, and Walker's home inspection of the Subject Property <u>before</u> their Complaint was filed in 2003. Plaintiffs should not be allowed to amend their Complaint more than three (3) years after it was filed to add claims they knew about when the original Complaint was filed. Accordingly, even if Plaintiffs' appeal of the trial court's denial of their Motion to Amend Complaint is found to be properly before this Court, the trial court's denial was not an abuse of discretion and should be affirmed.

#### **3.** Plaintiffs' Claims are Barred by the Statute of Limitations.

Plaintiffs argue their cause of action against Dabbs for alleged failure to disclose the Walker Report and the Advanced Engineering Report accrued upon either closing or the date said reports were actually discovered. The Dual Agency Confirmation and Seller's Disclosure Statement relating to Plaintiffs' purchase of the Subject Property were executed on August 8, 2000. (Rec., Pages 18 and 16-17). The Fletcher Contract was executed on September 16, 2000. (Rec., Pages 14-15). Plaintiffs' alleged claims against Dabbs arise from these three (3) documents, and the applicable statute of limitations for said claims is, at most, three (3) years pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-49. *Stephens v. Equitable Life Assurance Society of the United States*, 850 So.2d 78, 82 (Miss.Ct.App. 2003). *See also Carter v. Citigroup, Inc.*, 938 So.2d 809, 817 (Miss. 2006); *Frye, et al. v. American General Finance, Inc.*, 307 F.Supp2d 836, 841 (Miss. 2004). The length of time of the applicable statute of limitations is not in dispute on appeal. All representations made regarding the Subject Property were made through the aforementioned documents, and all obligations and/or rights amongst the parties attached on or before September 16, 2000, the date the

Ļ.

Fletcher Contract was executed. Plaintiffs did not file suit until October 29, 2003. Accordingly, Plaintiffs' claims are barred by the statute of limitations.

Plaintiffs utilize the purchase of an insurance contract as an analogy for application of the statute of limitations with regard to the case at bar. The statute of limitations, with regard to an insured's claims, does run from the purchase of the insurance policy. *Robinson v. Southern Farm Bureau Casualty Co.*, 915 So.2d 516, 519 (Miss.Ct.App.2005). Plaintiffs, however, are incorrect in their application of the cited case law. Plaintiffs cite *CitiFinancial Mortgage Company, Inc. v Washington*, 967 So.2d 16, 19 (Miss.2007) in support of their claim that some insurance contract cases have held the statute of limitations does not run until the date of the actual injury. See Plaintiffs' Brief, Pages 7 and 10. *CitiFinancial*, however, was not an insurance contract case, it was a balloon-payment mortgage case. The *CitiFinancial* Court found the claims regarding the mortgage contract accrued on the date the contract was executed and the Plaintiff received a copy of the contract. Accordingly, *CitiFinancial* supports Dabbs' argument, as Plaintiffs executed and obtained copies of the aforementioned three (3) documents on or before September 16, 2000.

The statute of limitations on Plaintiffs' causes of action began to run when the aforementioned documents were signed. *See Andrus v. Ellis*, 887 So.2d 175, 180 (Miss. 2004). The *Andrus* court held that because the plaintiffs signed and received the loan documents, they were charged with notice of their claims and, therefore, all claims accrued at the time the loan agreements were executed. *Id.* at 180 and 182. Additionally, any liability imposed through statutory provisions and/or the Sellers' Disclosure Statement, would have accrued when the representation and/or disclosure was made. See *Arbor Village Condominium Association v. Arbor Village, Ltd.*, 642 N.E.2d 1124 (Ohio Ct. App. 1996) (holding claims under disclosure statutes accrued, for limitation purposes, when the disclosure statements were given to purchasers, rather than when purchasers discovered undisclosed defects). Again, all representations made regarding the Subject Property

÷

ŧ

į

were made through the three (3) aforementioned documents, and all obligations and/or rights amongst the parties attached on or before September 16, 2000. Plaintiffs had signed and received the aforementioned documents, and were charged with notice of their claims as of September 16, 2000. Plaintiffs did not file suit until October 29, 2003. Accordingly, all causes of action asserted by Plaintiffs against Dabbs are barred by the statute of limitations.

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